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Executive Summary

The City of London Corporation appointed
Groundwork London to carry out a public
engagement and consultation process
with Hampstead Heath Extension users
about the use of an existing empty building
located next to the public toilets on the
Heath Extension. In order to ensure that the
Hampstead Heath Extension continues to
meet the needs of local users and residents,
the City Corporation sought to gather
information about how people use the
Heath Extension, whether users would be in
favour of fturning the buiding into a
refreshment kiosk and what users would be
looking for in a refreshment kiosk, if
infroduced.

This report is based on the findings of two
pop up engagement events on the Heath
Extension, one on a weekday morning and
one on a weekend afternoon, and an
online questionnaire, the link to which was
shared widely with key user groups and the
wider community. Paper copies of the
qguestionnaire  with  pre-paid  return
envelopes were available on request. The
engagement and consultation process
took place between October and
December 2019.

In total, 717 people contributed their
thoughts and aspirations for the use of the

space. The online questionnaire received
607 responses, with 284 people leaving
comments. 110 people participated in the
engagement events, at which 67
comments were also received.

The overall response to the engagement
and consultation process was largely
positive  with  72% of questionnaire
respondents stating that they would use a
refreshment kiosk. 18% said that they would
not use one, along with 8% of participants
at on-site engagement events. There was
no clear consensus on an alternative use for
the building, the most popular alternative
use offered through the process was a
meeting space for community groups,
suggested seven fimes.

Considering the strong support received for
the proposal, the City Corporation should
consider initfiating a tender process, seeking
a catering provider that can deliver a
refreshment kiosk that:

e is sympathetic to the “wild” and
“peaceful” character of the Heath
Extension.

e caters to the needs of a range of
Heath Extension user groups.

e provides a simple, healthy, high-
quality and affordable offer.

It is clear that the Hampstead Heath
Extension is cherished by ifs users for its
unique character, with many describing it
as a “haven of nature” and a “rare oasis of
undeveloped space”. The main reason
cited by participants who did not support
the proposal of arefreshment kiosk was that
it could be “detrimental to the wild and
natural character of the Heath Extension”.
Particular concerns raised included the
potential creation of litter, noise, vehicular
fraffic and commercialisation by a kiosk. It
is therefore important that a refreshment
kiosk is sympathetic to the natural setting
and character of the Heath Extension.

The process has also indicated that the
Heath Extension is used regularly by a
number of groups. Of the community
consulted with, 54% of participants usually
visit the space for a walk or run, 38% visit to
walk the dog and 8% visit for a sports
practice or event. A number of suggestions
were made for how a kiosk could cater for
the needs of these individual user groups,
for example by providing dog facilities,
building partnerships with sports clubs and
providing deals for groups and staff that
work to preserve the Heath.

A small number of food and drink options
were favoured throughout the process:



freshly brewed tea and coffee, fresh fruit
juices and smoothies, breakfast pastries, hot
and cold snacks, healthy options and
cakes. When asked to choose the most
important aspect of a kiosk for them, 29% of
questionnaire respondents chose ‘quality of
food and drink’, while only 4% chose ‘a
wide range of food and drink options’. In a
separate question, 93% of respondents
either agreed or sfrongly agreed that
‘affordability of food and drink’ was
important to them. Data suggests that the
menu offered at a kiosk should be made up

of a small selection of good quality, healthy
and affordable offerings.

Finally, the engagement process revealed
Heath Extension users’ aspirations for an
environmentally-friendly  catering  offer
where they could purchase refreshments
both on the go and to enjoy at the kiosk.
92% of respondents stated that it was
important to them that the kiosk was
environmentally friendly and 44 people left
comments requesting measures be put in
place to ensure this. There was a high
demand for an outdoor seating area in

summer, with 95% of respondents agreeing
that this was important to them, and some
demand for indoor seating as well.

Above all, a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension should strike a
fine balance, enhancing enjoyment of the
space without affecting the naturalness
and franquillity that make it so special and
unique for all who use if.



1 Intfroduction/ Background

The City of London Corporation (City
Corporation) commissioned Groundwork
Llondon to carry out community
engagement and consultation around the
use of an existing building on the
Hampstead Heath Extension. The currently
empty building is located next to the public
toilets. The City Corporation sought to
gather information about how people use
the Heath Extension, whether users would
be in favour of turning the building into @
refreshment kiosk and what users would be
looking for in a refreshment kiosk, if
infroduced.

Groundwork London carried out a
programme of engagement activities
between October and December 2019 to
capfture the views of local stakeholders and
Heath Extension users. The findings of this
public engagement process are contained
within this report.

Objectives:

* To carry out community engagement
with a wide range of Hampstead Heath
Extension wusers in order to ascertain
community support for the infroduction of a
refreshment kiosk.

*» To effectively promote engagement
activities fo alarge number and wide range
of audiences.

* To produce a report presenting findings.
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2 Methodology

The engagement process consisted of an
online questionnaire survey and two on-site
pop up engagement events.

Online questionnaire

Groundwork London prepared an online
questionnaire, which was hosted on the
City Corporation website. The questionnaire
was open to the public for four weeks from
Wednesday 23 October — Wednesday 20
November 2019.

The questionnaire was promoted both on
and offine by the City Corporatfion,
Groundwork London and stakeholder
organisations. Posters were displayed along
popular walking routes on the Heath
Extension and the link was shared with
regular user groups including but not limited
to sports teams, local schools, the
Hampstead Heath Consultative Committee
and dog owners. Paper copies with
prepaid return envelopes were available
on request. The questions used appear in
Appendix 1 of this report.

The questionnaire consisted of 11 multiple-
choice questions and 3 additional dialogue
boxes offering respondents the opportunity
fo  express specific  opinions. The
questionnaire  received an excellent
response rate of 607 completions. The
results of individual questions appear in the
‘Findings’ section of this report and the
detailed questionnaire data appears as
Appendix 2.

On-site pop-up engagement events

To complement the questionnaire, two
pop-up engagement events were held in
the autumn of 2019. The purpose of these
events was to engage an even broader
collection of Heath Extension users,
spanning the breadth of the local
community, and to capture more nuanced
opinion.

The events were promoted by the City
Corporation, Groundwork London and
stakeholder organisations. Events took
place on the following dates in the space
next to the public toilets on the Hampstead
Heath Extension:

e Wednesday 23 October: 2:00AM -
12:00PM

e Saturday 26 October 13:00 -
16:00PM (weekend sporting events)

At the pop up stalls, participants were
presented with a number of mood board
images inquiring about Heath users’
reasons for visiting the Heath Extension, the
main reasons for visiting a potential
refreshment kiosk, and what they would be
looking for in a refreshment kiosk, if
infroduced. The results of the mood board
exercise appear in the ‘Findings’ section
and the board designs used can be found
in Appendix 3 of this report.

Participants were also offered the
opportunity tfo leave further comments
either directly related to the image boards
or any other comments on post-it notes.

The pop-up engagement events engaged
a fotal of 110 people and 67 individual
comments were collected. All detailed
data from the on-site engagement events,
including all comments received, can be
found in Appendix 4 of this report.



3 Findings

3.1 On-site pop up engagement
events

What is the main reason you visit the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

Over 50% of participants answered that
they visit the Heath Extension to walk their
dog. Around a third answered that they
come for a walk or a run (30%) and the
remaining 18% of participants were visiting
for a sports practice or event.

What are the two main reasons you would
visit a refreshment kiosk?

Over half of participants (59%) chose to buy
a tea or coffee as one of their main reasons
for visiting a potential kiosk; 54 participants
(35%) would buy a tea or coffee to drink at
the kiosk while 37 would buy a hot drink to
take away (24%). While 17 people chose o
buy a snack to eat at the kiosk (11%), 12
chose to buy a snack to take away (8%). 16
people also said that they would come to
a refreshment kiosk to socialise with friends
or family (10%). ‘Before or after an event’ (8
people/ 5%), ‘for a meal' (7 people/ 5%)
and ‘as an alternative location to work
from’ (2 people/ 1%) were the options
chosen the least.

What is the main reason you visit the Hampstead
Heath Extension?

0 10 20 30 40 50

For a walk or run _ 17

28

For a sports practice or event

What are the two main reasons you would visit a refreshment kiosk?2
0 10 20 30 40 50 60

For a tea or coffee break [ NGNTNIENGNGNN 5
To pick up a takeaway tea or coffee [N 37
For a quick snack to take away _ 12
For a quick snack to eatin [ I INNEGGEGIN 17
For a meal; i.e. breakfast, lunch or dinner [l 7
To socialise with friends or family [ NN 16
N s

As an dlternative location to work from [} 2

Before or after attending an event nearby;



What two drinks would you like to be sold in
a refreshment kiosk?

56% of participants answered that they
would buy a tea or coffee at a refreshment
kiosk. A tea or coffee to drink in was chosen
more frequently by 52 people (33%) than o
take away, which was chosen by 37 people
(23%). ‘Alcoholic drinks’ (20 people/ 13%).
‘fruit juices/ smoothies’ (14 people/ 9%),
‘hot chocolate’ (13 people/ 8%) and
‘bottled water’ (12 people/ 8%) were also
quite popular. Concerns were raised by 12
respondents, who left a comment about
the potential impact of plastic bottles and
takeaway cups on the environment and
the amount of rubbish on the Heath. Four
people specifically suggested incentives to
encourage visitors to bring reusable cups.

What two drinks would you like to be sold in a refreshment
kiosk?

0 10 20 30 40 50 60
Fresh brewed coffee/ tea 52
Hoft drinks to takeaway 37
Hot chocolate 13
Bottled water 12
Branded soft drinks 1
Fruit juices/ smoothies 14
Alcoholic drinks 20

Healthy drinks 10



What two types of food options would you
like to be sold in a refreshment kiosk?

Of the 14 food options offered, 8 came out
clearly as the most popular. ‘Breakfast
pastries’ and ‘hot snacks’ came out on fop
with 17% of the votes, each chosen by 24
people. The second most popular options
were ‘sandwiches/ cold snacks’ and
‘cooked breakfasts’, chosen by 14 people
each (10%). With 13 votes (9%) each were
‘ice creams/ lollies’ and ‘vegetarian and
vegan options’. ‘Healthy options’ received
12 votes (8%) and ‘cakes’ received 10 (7%).
The four least commonly selected opfions
were 1. ‘Baby food/ kids meals’ with 0 votes;
2. 'Cold meals’ with 2 votes/ 1%; 3.
‘Specials’ with 3 votes/ 2%; 4. ‘Takeaway
opftions’ and ‘hot meals’ with 4 votes/ 3%,
respectively.

It is worth nofing that 9 people who
parficipated in the on-site engagement
stalls expressed that they did not support
the idea of infroducing a catering offer on
the Heath Extension and did not vote on
the mood boards. 8 of these left comments
citing commercialisation, rubbish, vermin
and health risks as their reasons for being
against the proposal.

What two types of food options would you like to be sold in a refreshment

Breakfast pastries
Cooked breakfasts
Hot meals

Cold meals

Hot snacks
Sandwiches/ cold snacks
Cakes

Ice creams/ lollies
Takeaway options
Specials

Baby food/ kids meals
Healthy

Vegetarian/ vegan

Crisps/ fruit/ chocolate

kiosk?2
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On-site engagement event: Any other
comments:

A total of 67 comments were received. 23
were ‘general’ comments relating directly
to the concept of a refreshment kiosk. 7
comments responded posifively to the
idea, while 8 responded negatively for the
reasons menfioned above.

13 comments called for a dog-friendly café
with facilities and snacks/ treats for dogs. 14
comments expressed concern about
packaging that would be created by a
refreshment kiosk and the negative impact
this could have on the environment and
waste levels on the Heath. A total of 17
further comments referred to the food and
drink offer and further facilities or deals that
could be offered at a refreshment kiosk for

Rubbish/ environmental impact 14

Dog-friendly 13

Negative comments
(commercialisation, vermin,
rubbish and health risks)

Positive comments

Deals for user groups

Food and drink offer

Other facilities

— (N[N [0 | |00

Outdoor seating

user groups, including children and sports
tfeams.

The table below summarises the key themes
of comments received at on-site
engagement events. All detailed data,
including full comments received, appear
as Appendix 4 of this report.

It should be noted that respondents were a
self-selecting sample, through largely
representative of Heath Extension users
overall.

The on-site engagement events revealed a
largely positive response from community
members consulted with to the proposal of
infroducing a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension




3.2 Online Questionnaire

What is usually your main reason for visiting the Hampstead Heath
Extension?

55% of questionnaire respondents usually visit the Heath Extension to go
for a walk or a run, 35% visit fo walk the dog and 6% visit for a sports
practice or event. Of the 4% of respondents that selected ‘other’, the
most commonly mentioned reasons were to observe/ and protect wildlife
(6 mentions) and to work, relax and socialise (2 mentions each).

How often do you visit the Hampstead Heath Extension?

Everyone that completed the questionnaire had visited the Heath
Extension before and the vast majority of questionnaire respondents were
regular users of the Heath Extension, with 56% (336 people) visiting weekly
at least. Of these, 35% (208 people) visit more than once a week whilst
21% (128 people) visit every day. A further 30% (179 people) visit more
than once a month.

When do you usually visit the Hampstead Heath Extension?

When asked when they usually visit the Heath Extension, respondents
were able to select as many opftions as applied to them. The most
commonly selected options were ‘at the weekends’ (398 selections/ 24%)
and ‘year round’ (306 selections/ 18%), however ‘on weekdays' and
‘during the day’ were also selected frequently with 16% each. More
respondents answered that they visit the Heath Extension ‘during the day’
(257 selections/ 16%) and ‘in the morning’ (191 selections/ 12%) than ‘in
the early evenings’, which was chosen the least out of all of the options
with 109 selections (7%). ‘Year round’ was selected 306 times (18%).
proving to be more popular than ‘in summer’ with only (124 selections/
7%).

What is usually your main reason for visiting the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

® For a walk or run 6% 4%

mTo walk the dog

For a sports practice or
event

m Other

How often do you visit the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

0 50 100 150 200

Every day e 128
More than once a week I 208
More than once a month 179
More than once every few months I 72
Onceayearorless M 14
Never 0

When do you usually visit the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

0 100 200 300 400

Weekdays . 272
Weekends N 398
In the morning I 1917
During the day I 257
In the early evenings 109
In summer N 124
Yearround N 306
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Would you visit a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

Would you visit
a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

mYes
mNo

m Don't know

72% of respondents answered that they
would visit a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension. 18% would
noft visit a kiosk and a further 10% answered
that they didn’t know.

Of the fotal 284 comments received, strong
opinions were expressed both in support of
(204 comments) and against (82
comments) the proposal.

Of the 204 comments in support of the
building being turned into a refreshment
kiosk, 50 people left positive comments,
such as "It would be great for this to
happen. | was just thinking today as we
passed by how useful it would be!” and “It's
a great idea, please do it. We've been
living in the area for 10 years and it's
something we always hoped would
happen!” Some people even asked why
there hadn't been a catfering offer
infroduced on the Heath Extension sooner.

30 people commented that they would like
a refreshment kiosk to be dog friendly.
Some suggested dog facilities that a kiosk
could provide, such as dog biscuits and
water bowls, and most stressed that it would
be important for them to be able to bring
their dogs inside, particularly in the cooler
months.

16 people wrote that they were in favour of
infroducing a refreshment kiosk so long as it
was to be run in an environmentally friendly
manner. They felt strongly that the kiosk
should not support the use of single-use
plastic and some felt it should offer no
disposable packaging, including coffee
cups, at all.

14 people commented that they would be
in support of a community-centred kiosk,
stressing the need for any catfering offer
infroduced to be run independently and
respond fo local needs (“Thisis a greatidea
so long as it is run independently. | would
absolutely not want this to be a chain like
Benugo, Pret or Costa.”). 10 people
suggested a kiosk build partnerships with
local sports teams and offer deals for
groups that use the Heath Extension, while
4 people wanted a kiosk to offer fraining
opportunities for local people.

Of the 82 comments against turning the
building intfo a refreshment kiosk, a pressing
concern was that a café or similar could
negatively impact the “natural” and “wild”
character of the Heath Extension. 24
respondents commented that introducing
a refreshment kiosk could be detrimental to
the peace and tranquility of the area, with
one writing: “What | love about the Heath
Extension is thatitis a quiet, peaceful place,



a sort of hidden treasure. | feel that a café
would change fhe If you would not like to see the space
Cn‘mosphere and attract more peop[e.” 2 on the turned into a refreshment kiOSk,
people went as far as to question whether Do you have any other comments or do you have any other comments
a catering offer here would “be in breach suggestions you would like to share with
of the Hampstead Heath Act, which states Eiso::: zl:::: ﬁ;ﬁ::gldoj ﬁézftrheshment Would disturb the peace/
. u istu
?‘hcn‘.fhe Hampstead Heath should be leftin Extension? franquillity/ countryside feel 04
its wild and natural state.”
13 beople cited a potential increase in litter Positive responses to Rubbish/ environmental
peop P . ) refreshment kiosk proposal 50 impact 13
on the Heath Extension as their reason for ]
not wanting a refreshment kiosk to be Dog friendly 30
infroduced and a further 13 people Rubbish/ environmental Already enough cafes nearby 13
expressed that they felt there were already impact 16 Like it how it is 9
enough cafes in the nearby area. .
Meeting space for local groups 7
9 people wrote simply that they like the Community hub/ independent 14 Noise 7
Heath Extension as it is and wouldn’t want . )
anything to be changed. Other reasons Good quality, simple, healthy Vehicular fraffic 7
cited for being against the proposal were food 1 Commercialisation 6
that it would create extra noise (7 people), Deals for local groups 10 Information/ activity centre 5
vehicular traffic (7), commercialisation (6) Desian fitting 1o it rural
and that it would attract more commercial su?flo%r;]clﬁr:n? oIS haturd
dog walkers to this green space (5). 9 Would attract more
i ’r o th od Outdoor seating commercial dog walkers 5
Alternative uses for the space suggeste . . .
include: a meeting space for local groups Training opportunities for local Wildlife/ biodiversity S
(7 people), an information or activity centre people Health/ obesity 4
(5), an outdoor gym (4) and a playground Opening hours 3 Trim trail/ outdoor gym 4
(2). Affordable 3 Children’s play area 2
Children's meals/ facilities 3 Space for yoga/ relaxation ]
Dietary requirements 3




Have you visited cafes before or after a visit
to the Hampstead Heath Extension in the
last month?

Have you visited cafes before/ after
a visit to the Haompstead Heath
Extension in the last month?

mYes

mNo

65% of respondents reported that they had
visited cafes before or after a visit fo the
Heath Extension in the last month. When
asked why they chose these cafes many
reasons were cited, the most common of
which was that the café was located
conveniently in relation to the Heath
Extension with 93 mentions. 62 people cited
‘for a coffee’, 32 cited ‘for food’ and 31
people cited ‘for a refreshment before or
after a walk’. Also frequently mentioned
were ‘for a break during a walk’ (23
mentions), as it was ‘dog friendly’ (19
mentions), ‘to socialise’ (17 mentions) and
‘as there was no café on the Heath
Extension’ (14 mentions).

If available on your visit, what would be the
two main reasons you would go to a
refreshment kiosk on the Hampstead Heath
Extension?

If available on your visit, what would be the two main
reasons you would go to a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension?

0 50 100
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Foratea/ coffee breck [ 303
To pick up a takeaway tea/ coffee _ 121

For a quick snack to takeaway 67

For a quick snack to eatin [N 120
For a meal; i.e. breakfast, lunch or.._ 101
To socialise with friends or family _ 190

Before or after attending an event.. [l 45

As an altemative location to work.. Jli| 24

A potential refreshment kiosk on the Heath
Extension would be most frequently visited
for a tea or coffee break (chosen 303 times/
31%). The second most popular option was
‘to socialise with friends and family’, chosen
190 times (20%). ‘A tea/ coffee break’ and
‘for a quick snack to eat in (120/ 12%) were
both selected more frequently than their
takeaway alternatives (takeaway
tea/coffee — 121/ 12%; takeaway snack -
67/ 7%).

‘For a meal’ was the fifth most frequently
selected opftion, chosen 101 times (10%).
The three least commonly selected options
were 1. ‘as an alternative location to work
from’ (24/ 2%); 2. ‘before or after attending
an event nearby’ (45/ 5%); 3. ‘For a quick
snack to takeaway’ (67/ 7%).



Who would you be most likely to visit a
refreshment kiosk on the Hampstead Heath
Extension with?

36% of respondents answered that they
would visit with friends or family, including
children.

The next most popular responses were ‘as a
couple’ with 24% (103 selections), ‘alone’
with 19% (80 selections) and ‘with adulfs-
only friends or family’ with 14% (59
selections).

Only 1 person selected that they would visit
a kiosk with a colleague. Almost all of the
respondents that selected ‘other’ reported
that they would visit with their dog.

Who would you be most likely to visit a refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension with?

Alone
As a couple
Friends/ family with children

Friends/ family with adults only

Members of group or team; e.g. sports
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What food would you most like to be sold in
a refreshment kiosk?

Respondents were asked to select the two
most important food items to be sold in a
potential refreshment kiosk. Most frequently
selected was ‘breakfast pastries’, selected
183 ftimes (15% of total responses).
Considering that the Heath Exftension is
usually at ifs busiest in the mornings, when it
very popular with walkers and dog walkers,
it is unsurprising that this was the top choice.

The three next most popular opfions were:
‘healthy options’, selected 162 times (13%),
‘sandwiches and cold snacks’, selected 139
times (11%) and ‘cakes’, selected 136 times
(11%).

The three food options that were selected
least frequently, each only receiving
around 50 selections (4% of the ftotal
responses) were: 1. ‘Packaged take-out
options’; 2. ‘specials that change regularly’;
3. ‘cold meals; e.g. salads’.

Those respondents that selected ‘other’
largely requested more breakfast and
brunch options, gluten-free options and ice
cream.

What food would you most like to be sold in a refreshment kiosk?
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What drinks would you most like to be sold
in a refreshment kiosk?

Respondents were asked to select the two
most important  drinks to be sold.
Overwhelmingly, respondents reported that
‘fresh brewed tea and coffee’ were most
important to them, with this receiving 37% of
responses, selected 369 times.

178 people favoured ‘hot drinks to take
away' (18% of responses) and 161 people
selected ‘fresh fruit juices and smoothies’
(16% of responses).

The two least popular drink options were: 1.
‘alcoholic drinks’, selected 36 times (4%)
and 2. ‘branded soft drinks’, selected 49
times (5%).

A water refill station and recyclable cups
were requested in comments left in the
‘other section’.

What drinks would you most like to be sold
in a refreshment kiosk?
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Hot chocolate _ 106
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Service of food and drink at a potential
refreshment kiosk:

Please read the following statements in relation to the food and drink offer at a potential refreshment

kiosk on the Hampstead Heath Extension and tell us how strongly you agree or disagree.
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Food should be home made, where possible.

Ingredients and food should be locally sourced, where possible.

Ingredients and food should be fair frade, where possible.

Food and drink should be priced affordably.

m Sfrongly agree

93% of respondents felt that food and drink
served at a potential refreshment kiosk
should be priced affordably. As almost 50%
of respondents agreed strongly with this
statement, it would be worth exploring the
affordability of food and drink on offer
further. 78% of respondents felt that food
should be home made, where possible.

Similarly, 75% of respondents would like food
and drink to be fair tfrade, where possible,
and 68% would like food to be sourced
locally. At 31%, more people responded
neutrally fo this statement than the other
three.

mAgree

80% 90%
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31%
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100%
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Management of a potential refreshment
kiosk:

Please read the following statements in relafion to a potential refreshment kiosk on the Hampstead heath
Extension and tell us how strongly you agree or disagree. It is important fo me that a potential refreshment kiosk ...

0% 10% 20%  30%

40%

50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

... provides opportunities for local people to be employed and trained in. . IS e 24% %
... has a connection to the local area and runs the kiosk in a way that.. NS 8% %

...isran in an eco-friendly manner e.g. biodegradable packaging,

... offers a range of ways to pay e.g. cash, card.

...isopen early in the morningsi.e. before 2am.

...isopeninthe evenings, as late as other parts of the open space, e.g...
... offers a cosy and atmospheric place to sit and socialise for a while.

... offers a seating area outside during the summer.

m Sfrongly agree

Out of all of the statements relating to how
a potential refreshment kiosk on the Heath
Extension should be managed,
respondents reacted most positively to an
outdoor seating area being offered in
summer, with a total of 95% of people
finding this important and almost three
quarters of respondents strongly agreeing
(74%).

92% of respondents also found it important
that any catering offer on the Heath
Extension be run in an environmentally
friendly manner. 66% of

m Agree Neutral mDisagree
respondents agreed strongly with this
statement.

The three statements that received the next
most positive response, each receiving a
total of 21% of respondents for whom they
were important, were that the kiosk has a
connection to the local areaq, offers a cosy
and atmospheric place to sit and offers a
range of ways to pay.

The two statements to which respondents
reacted the most neutrally related to the
opening hours of a kiosk. While 50% of

.. I e 67T 26% i 7% 0%
7 T A 8% (e
T 23% 43%
e 30% 40%
NS 586 % T 7% 1%
N 7 2 1% 3%

m Sfrongly disagree

respondents showed an interest in a kiosk
opening early in the mornings, 43%
answered neutrally. Similarly, while 51% of
respondents showed an interest in a kiosk
staying open into the early evening, 40%
reacted neutrally. It is worth noting that
more people felt strongly about the kiosk
opening in the mornings (27%) than in the
early evenings (21%). More people also
responded negatively to a kiosk staying
open in the early evenings (7%) than
opening early in the mornings (5%).



The most important aspect of a refreshment

kiosk:

Which of the following are two most important with regards to a potential
refreshment kiosk at the Hampstead Heath Extension?

0
Quality of food and drink

100 150 200 250 300 350
290

Affordability of food and drink [ N N DS 133
A cosy/ atmospheric place to sit [ 206

That the kiosk is environmentally friendly

Links to the local community/ area I 52
A wide range of food and drink [l 35

83

Healthy food and drink [N 75
Staff offer good customer care [ 70

Speed of service [ 43

Respondents were asked to select their two
most important aspects of a refreshment
kiosk out of a total of nine options.

‘Quallity of food and drink’ came out on top
with almost a third of respondents (290
people/ 29%) selecting this as the most
important. This was followed by 21% of
respondents (206 people) selecting ‘a cosy
and atmospheric place to sit’. Third most
important was the ‘affordability of food

and drink’, selected 133 times, with 13% of
responses.

The three aspects selected by the least
number of respondents were: 1. ‘a wide
range of food and drink’, selected 35 times
(4%); 2. 'speed of service’, selected 43 fimes
(4%) and 3. ‘links fo the local community/
area’, selected 52 times (5%).



4 Headlines

4.1 There is strong support for a
refreshment kiosk on the
Hampstead Heath Extension.

The overall response to the engagement
and consultation process was largely
positive  with  72% of questionnaire
respondents stating that they would use a
refreshment kiosk. The consultation process
revealed Heath Extension users' aspirations
for an environmentally-friendly catering
offer where they could purchase
refreshments on the go, as well as to enjoy
at the kiosk.

That a refreshment kiosk on the Heath
Extension should be environmentally-
friendly came out strongly throughout the
consultation  process  with  66%  of
respondents strongly agreeing and a
further 26% agreeing that this was important
(92% in total). 29 people left environment-
related comments to the questionnaire, as
well as 15 people at engagement events.
As one person wrote “it would be fantastic
if a Hampstead Heath Extension café could
lead the way by being plastic free.”
Environmentally-friendly measures such as
recycling, avoiding single-use plastic and a
water station to refill bottles would be
welcomed by Heath Extension users.

95% of people felt that an outdoor seating
area is important. 21% of respondents (206
people) selected ‘a cosy and atmospheric
place 1o sit' as the most important aspect
of a kiosk, ranking second only to ‘quality of
food and drink’. For respondents’ main
reason for visiting a kiosk, drinking a tea or
coffee (31%) or eating a snack at the kiosk
(12%) were both selected more frequently
than their takeaway alternatives
(takeaway tea or coffee: 12%/ takeaway
snack: 7%). This supports that there is a
demand for outdoor seafing in summer, as
well as some form of indoor facility.

There was no clear consensus on an
alternative use for the building, the most
popular alternative use offered throughout
the process was a meeting space for
community groups, suggested seven fimes.

4.2 A refreshment kiosk should be
sympathetic to the “wild” and
“peaceful” character of the Heath
Extension.

It is clear that the Hampstead Heath
Extension is cherished by its users for its
unique character, with many describing it
as a "haven of nature” and a “rare oasis of
undeveloped space”. It is therefore

unsurprising that some people feel strongly
about potential changes to the space.

The main reason cited by participants who
did not support the proposal of a
refreshment kiosk was that it could be
“defrimental to the wild and natural
character of the Heath Extension”. Users
flagged their concerns in questionnaire
comments surrounding the litter (29
people), noise (7 people), vehicular traffic
(7 people) and commercialisation (6
people) that a kiosk could bring with it.

It is therefore important that a refreshment
kiosk on the Heath Extension is sympathetic
fo its natural setting. As one respondent
wrote, “it should be small and nof ruin the
natural beauty”. Respondents suggested
ways to address these concerns, including
making the management of litter
produced by a kiosk part of the contract
and infroducing incenfives to encourage
visitors to use refillable cups rather than
disposable ones.

4.3 A refreshment kiosk should cater
to the needs of a range of Heath
Extension user groups.

Data from both the questionnaire and
engagement stalls shows that the Heath
Extension is used regularly by a number of



user groups, with a total of 54% visiting for a
walk or run, 38% visiting fo walk the dog and
8% visiting for a sports practice or event. In
order for a refreshment kiosk to become a
resource valued by all who currently use
and enjoy the Heath Extension, a kiosk
should be sensitive to the needs of these
individual user groups.

Comments were received both at
engagement events (13 comments) and to
the questionnaire (30 comments) calling for
a refreshment kiosk to be dog friendly. This
included providing facilities for dogs, such
as water bowls, dog biscuits and facilities to
hose down after a walk. Many people also
expressed that it was important for them to
be able to bring their dogs in for a coffee or
refreshment break with them. As one
parficipant wrote “It would be important to
have an area where you can sit inside with
your dog, particularly in cooler months'.

Other users commented that they would
like a separate seating area for those visitors
who come without dogs so as not to
impede their enjoyment of the kiosk.

Multiple participants expressed throughout
the engagement process how a kiosk
would be welcomed by sports teams and
supporters, who currently have no means of
refreshment before or after matches, for
example “it would be hugely beneficial to
all those who play sports at the Heath on

weekends, as well as those who come to
watch others play.” Partnerships with local
teams were suggested in comments as a
way to provide refreshment after sports
events and as a guaranteed means of
custom for the kiosk on weekends.

It was also suggested that the kiosk could
provide deals and discounts for those that
support the preservation of the Heath
Extension, such as staff and volunteers and
thatit could give back to the community by
providing fraining opportunities for local
people.

44 A refreshment kiosk should
provide a simple, healthy, high-
quality and affordable offer.

Throughout the engagement process, a
small number of food and drink options
were favoured repeatedly. Freshly brewed
tea and coffee, both to drink at the kiosk
and to takeaway, was ranked consistently
as the most frequently selected option,
making up 55% of total drink selections.
Fresh fruit juice and smoothies were also
selected widely. Breakfast pastries (15%),
hot and cold snacks (18%), healthy options
(13%) and cakes (11%) came out as the
most popular food options. Hot and cold
meals made up 9% of responses, however
whether the building in question is large

enough to house a kitchen that can
prepare substantial meals requires further
consideration.

‘Quality of food and drink’ was favoured by
questionnaire respondents as the most
important aspect of a refreshment kiosk
with 29% choosing this option, while ‘a wide
range of food and drink opfions' was
chosen the least, by only 4% of
respondents. The third most important
aspect for respondents was ‘affordability’
and 93% of respondents agreed that this
was important to them.

The data suggests that the menu at a kiosk
should be made up of good quality,
healthy, affordable offerings and that this
should be prioritised over a wide range of
opfions.



A Appendices



A.1 Online Questionnaire

Hampstead Heath Extension Engagement and Consultation
Questicnnaire

The city of vondon have appointed Groundwork London to carry out user engagement 2nd
consultation with Hampstead Heath Extension users on the use of an existing building located at the
end of the male and ferale public toilets on the Heath Extension. To ensure that the uss of this spacs
meets the needs of Heath users and residents, we would like to gather as muchinformation as possibls
about how paople uss the Heath Extension, how we might introduce a catering offer there and what
people would be looking for in 3 catering offer on the Heath Extension if introduced.

‘We've devized 3 guestionnaire to gather this information. The guestionnaire will be available for 3
period of 4 weeks, closing on Wednasday 20/11,/20189.

we really value your input, pleass take the time to complete this survey and don't forget to tell your
friends and family! It should take sround 10 minutss of your time.

Thank you for your participation.
Would you like to have a chat with us?

‘We'll be on the Heath Extension by the public toilets on Saturday 26,/10/19 from 1 - dpm to collect
ideas from people walking through. Feel free to come and say hello!

1. How often do you wisit the Hampstead Heath Extension?

Every day

More than once & week

More than once 3 month

hdore than once every few months
Once & year or less

Mever

Oooooono

M

When do you usuzlly visit the Hampstead Heath Extension? Please selact all that apphy.

Weakdays
Weakends

In the mornings
During the day

In the garly svenings
In summer

Oooooooo

Year round

3. what is usually the main reason for your visit to the Hampstead Heath Extension?

O Fora walk/ run

O Towslk the dog
O For & sports practice or event
O other [please spacify)

4. would you visit & refreshment kiosk on the Hampstead Heath Extension (in the space
located at the end of the male and female public toilets) if one were available on your visit?

Yes
Mo
Don't know

Ooooo

If you answersd “yes’ or ‘don’t know' to gquestion 4, please complete questions 5— 14,

If you answersd ‘no’ to question 4, please skip to guestion 15.

5. Have you visited cafes before/ after a visit to the Hampstead Hesth Extension in the last

monith?
O ves
O mo

8. [fyes, what was your reason for choosing thoss cafes?

7. favailable on your vizit, what would be the two main reasons you wouldgoto &
refreshmant kiozk on the Hampstead Heath Extension? Pleass select two only.

O For 2 coffes/ tea break

O To pick up 2 takeaway tea/ coffee

O  For a quick snack to t2ke away

O For & quick snack to eat in

O For a meal i.e. breakfast, lunch or dinner

O To sodsliss with friends or family

O eefore orafter sttending an event nearby, &.5. sporting activity

O Asan zltzmative location to work from

8. Who would you be mast likely to visit 3 refrashment kiosk on the Hampstead Heath
Extension with? Please szlect one only.

O alone

O Asacouple



B Oooooo

oooooooo

ooooDooooooooon

=

Friends/ family with children

Friends, family adults only

nembers of groups/ teams gg. Sports teams
with colleagues

Other (pleass specify balow)

What drinks would you like to be sold in 2 refreshment kiosk? Flease szlect the two most
important.

Fresh brewed coffes/ tea
Haot drinks to tzke away

Hot chocolate

Branded soft drinks

Frash fruit juices/ smoothias
Healthy, low sugar drinks
alcoholic drinks

Other (pleasa spacify)

What food would you like to be sold in 2 refreshment kiosk? Flease s=lect the two maost
important.

Breakfast pastries

Cooked breskfasts

Hot mezls

Cold meals e.g- salads

Hot snacks

sandwiches and cold snacks
Packaged, take-out options &.g. sandwiches
Cakes

Children's meals

Specizals which change regularty
Healthy options

Vegetarizn, vegan options

snacks e.g. Crisps, fruit, chocolate
Other [please specify)

. Plezze read the following statemants in relation to 3 potential refreshment kiosk on the

Hampstead Heath Extension and tell us how stronghy you agree or disagree.

It is important te me that & potentia| refreshment kiosk...

strongly | agree | Neutrsl | Disagree | Strongly | W/& or
agree disagres | Don't
Know

... provides opportunities for local
people to be employed and trained in
the kiosk.

.. has 3 connaction to the local area
and runs the kiosk in 2 way that
responds to specific, local needs.

.. i3 1an in an eco-friendly manner 2.g.
biodegradsble packaging, recycling.

... offers a range of ways to pay e g.
cash, card.

... is open early in the mornings i=.
before gam.

.. s open in the evenings, as late as
other parts of the open space, 2.
dusk,

... offers a cosy and atmospheric place
to sit and socialisz for a while.

... offers a sesting ares outside during

the summer.

12. Please read the following statements in relation to the foed and drink offer at a potential
refreshment kiosk and tell us how strongly you agree or dizagres.

Strongly | Agree | Neutral | Disagree | Strongly | M/a or
agree disagree | Don't
Know

Food should be home made, where
possiblz.

Ingredients and food should be locally
sourced, where possible.

Ingredients and food should be fair
trade, whare possible.

Food and drink should be priced
affordably.




13. which of the following zre most important with regards to 2 potential refreshment kiosk at
the Hampstead Heath Extension? Please select two only.

quality of food and drink

affordability of food and drink

A cosy) stmospheric place to sit

That a kiosk is enwvirenmentally friendhy
Links to the local community) local area
A wide range of food and drink

Healthy food and drink

staff offer good customer care

Speed of service

ooooooooo

14. Do you have any other comments or suggestions you would like to share with us about the
proposal of 2 refreshment kiosk on the Hampstead Heath Extension?

If you answered ‘yes’ or ‘don’t know' to guestion 4, please finish the survey here.

If you answered ‘no’ to question 4, please answer question 15.

15. If you would not like to s=e the space on the Hampstesd Hesth Extension turned into &
refreshment kiosk, do you have any other comments or suggestions for an alternative use?

Thank you for taking the time to complete this guestionnaire.
If you have any questions about this survey, please contact

hampstead. heath( i jondon.gov.uk

Paper copies of this survey are availablz on request. Please email

asha.tomlin-kent @groundwork.org. uk.

If you would like to find out more about Hampstead Heath, e.g. be kept up to date with upcoming
=vents please leave your email address below.

Follow Hampstead Heath on Facebook @HampsteadHzathCityoflondon and Twitter
@gitycorptieath



A.2 Online

Questionnaire Results

For a walk or nun 333
To walk the 0 Far a tea/ coffee break 03
For a sports practice or event a7 Don't know 943 ] To pick up o lnknowoy e/ collon =
Othear 53 Far a quick snock fo tokeorway &7
For a quick snock fo eat in 120
For a meal; i.e. breakfast, lunch or dinnner 10
Yas A4 8TE | 277 ialk ith fri i
Every day 128 i To socialse with friends ar fomily 190
3 : . .
More than once a wesk W8 Mo 35.03% | 150 Before or after attending an event nearby: e.g. 45
sporfing activity
kore than once a manth 175 . - -
As an oitemative kocafion fo work from 24
More than once every few months T2
Locaficn was convernsnt %3
dnce a year o les 14
Far a coffea &2
Hevar 4]
For food 32
Far arefreshment before/ after a walk Ell -
: - A5 0 couple 103
o have a break duing o walk b - -
Weekdays a7 - 9 . Friends/ family with childran 153
IF was Qo endl | - =
Weekends I8 - -g ¥ Friends/ famiby with adulis only 5
To socialisa 17
Im e roming 1%1 — - Members of group or feam; e.g. gports feam n
During the day 257 As there was no café at the Heath Extension 14 With coleagues
- It was child friendl 12
In the early evenings 0% hd ¥ z Other 13
Far ice cream &
Im summer 124
Year round 08 For healthy food i
Owutdeoor seafing 4
Walue for money dq
Bafore/ after a sports event i




Fresh brewed tea/coffes 349
Hot drinks fo take oway 178
Hot chocolale 104
Bronded soft drinks 47
Fresh fruit juices) smioothies 141
Healfhy/ low sugar drinks Bé
Alcoholic drinks 34
Orther I

Sirongly Agres Meautnod DEogres Sirongly

ogres dsogres
Food showld be home mode, where possible. 2% % 0% % 0
Ingrexdienits and food should be locolly sourced, whene possible. E iy 4 E - 4 IE I'E i
Ingrexdienits ond food should be foir frode, whene possibie. T IFE 3% I'E i
Fond and drink should be prced affordobly. 48% 45T = 0% 0

- [prowvides opportunifies for lood people fo be employed and ITE T 4% = e
Breakfost pasinies 183 troined in fhe kiosk.
Cooked breckfosts a7 . s o connection to the local orea ond nuns the kosk ina woy 5% »BE EE Iz i 4
Haot meak &5 that responds to spediic, locol needs.
Cold medk. a0 solods 51 - i5 ran in on eco-iendy monner e.g. biodegrodoble pockoging E4TE 26 = Iz i 4
— recycling.
Hof smocks Hé - - -
-..offers o ronge of ways fo poy e.g. cash, cord. &TE 24% EZ ox =
Q gre f o
Smncheic-hersf cold st 1 . is open early in fhe momings Le. bafore fom. e x4 43 ox X
Fockoged toke-out oplions 47 " . -
g E .. 5 Open in the evenings, os kofe as ofher ports of the open spoce, 2% E i &% = x
Caokes 134 e.g. dusk.
Children’s meals &5 .. offers a cosy and aimosphenc ploce fio st and socdise for o 55% ME 7= e IE
Specials which change reguiarty 50 el
Healthy cotions 142 ... offers o seafing area outside during fhe summes. T4 2% Ix I =
Vegeataran, vegan opfions ¥7
Snocks, e.g. crisps/ frwity chocolote 70

Other




A.3 On-site Pop Up Engagement Event Consultation Boards

Hampstead Heath Extension Consultation

Hampstead Heath Extension Consultation

Hampstead
Heath

Hampstead
Heath

What is the main reason you visit Hampstead Heath Extension?

- A o W - \/ For a cotfee / tea break. For a takeavway For a quick snack to eat In For a takeaway
3 coffee / tea snack
@Y ' g
S¥ Y

" The City of London are considering  As well as these boards, we've . 1 'x

Infroducing a refreshment kiosk at created a QUESTIONNAIRE to gather To walk the dog For asports practice For awalk / run \ )

the Hamstead Heath Extension in the  this information. It is available af orevent )

space near the public foilets. www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/ .

ExtensionCafe for 4 weeks, closing

Groundwork London have been on Wednesday 20/11/2019.

appointed to consult Heath users . J

and residents on how they use the We really value your input so please For a meal To socialise with Before or after As an altemative location

[breakfast, lunch or cinner) fienass or family aftending an event nearby 10 work from

Heath Extension, how we might complete the survey - it should take
infroduce a catering facility, and around 10 tes. And don't forget
what customers would be looking for  to tell your friends and family about it
if such a facility were infroduced. tool Thank you for your participation.

b
Hampstead

Hampstead
Heath

Hampstead
Heath

Heath
Do you have anything else you want to tell us¢

Sreakfast pastries

Bottied water

#
fresh brewed coflee / fea Ho drinks 10 take away

Sandwiches / cold snacks Cakes ice creams and lolies Take-away opfions  Specials which change
reguiorty

Branded sof drinks Fresh ruil juices / smoofhies

Baby food / kids meals Healthy options Vegetarlan / vegan  Crisps / frult / chocolate




A.4 On-site Pop Up Engagement Event Results

This Appendix contains the detailed results of the mood board exercise conducted at two pop up engagement stalls on the Hampstead Heath
Extension, engaging 101 people, as well as the 67 comments collected. In the ‘general’ column positive, negative and aspirational comments

are indicated by colour:

dogs, like the Seattle Dog Food
Truck. Drinks, and dog ice lollies

a problem.

Aspirations Negative Positive
General Dog facilities Environmental impact/ rubbish Food and drink offer/ other
facilities
Great idea. Dog freats/ biscuits. A kiosk for No bofttled water. Rubbish could belKeep it simple and affordable!

Agree, it's a great idea.

Dogice cream (Kenwood)

Takeaway only with own refillable
cups, and there should be a
discount.

Hot breakfast and a drink should
get change from £10.

Can’'t wait. | really hope it comes to
fruition.

Must be dog friendly

Food to take away only with own
food containers.

Would love outside seating.

on the Heath. There is an obesity
problem nationally and | see no
reason to add fo this. Food outlets
encourage vermin and heaven
knows we have enough of these —

the Heath.

Really great idea. Dog freats No disposable cups, should all be  |Let’'s have a Trim Trail!
recyclable.
| would not buy any food or drink  |Dog snacks Concerned about rubbish left on  Small play are for children




rats, squirrels, crows, magpies and
gulls.

Marvellous idea. Go for it! Poo bags People could pay extra for a single [Picnic deal to take out
use cup? l.e. bring your own. No
exira rubbish needed.
| love Hompstead Heath, all the Dog wash Nothing to encourage more Pre-paid vouchers for Jewish

staff and all the dogs!

rubbish.

Sabbath observants.

No professional dog walkers.

Dog facilities would be great —
warter, meals (i.e. ability fo eat at
the same place as owners)

No takeaway wrapping. No
rubbish.

Post-rugby pint!

Any commercialisafion will
encourage more dog walkers =
more mess.

Another area for dog poo bags.

Nothing to take away.

Agree, would definitely go for a
post-rugby pint.

This would commercialise a lovely
open space. We have a café at
Golders Hill. Please don’'t open a
café.

Need more bins for dog waste.

Very simple food with no wrapping/
plates needed. Bring your own cups
for tea and coffee — or pay for a
recyclable cup.

Agree with post-rugby pint.

This space is perfect don't change
a thing. If you want food go to
Golders Hill Park.

Please may we have a dog
enclosure area for safe play?e

Would generate more rubbish.

Post-rugby social e.g. hot food/
pint.

More wardens.

More poo bins please.

Nothing to take away.

Review children’s playground to
make it more attractive.

No drones.

More poo bins.

Caution — litter. No plastics.

This place needs a forest school/

education cenftre.




Only independent

No plastics which will be dumped in
the bushes.

| agree that a forest school/
education centre would be good.

No shop. No café as too much
rubbish (and human poo) on
Heath. Use for educational
purposes.

Outside seating but sensitive to
keeping the ‘vibe' the same.

Do not need to change this green
spacel

A proper playground to encourage
physical activities.

If it goes ahead then it should be
run by a family business and not a
chain!

Education centre. Yoga for adults,
teaching for children.

Good idea.

No commercial dog walkers please.

IAn open space not to be changed.
If you need snacks go 5 minutes to
Golders Hill Park

Keep it simple. Don't want it to
become super busy. It's a haven
due to lack of facilities.

No — as it will encourage
commercial dog walkers.

The Heath is not a place for dog
walkers at the exclusion of others.







